IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

Trinity Mission Health & Rehabilitation of Clinton; LPNH Holdings Limited, LLC;

APPELLANTS

VS.

CASE NO.: 2006-TS-01053

The Estate of Mary Scott, by and through Elzenia Johnson, Individually and as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Mary Scott, and on behalf of and for the use and benefit of the wrongful death beneficiaries of Mary Scott,

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS (Oral Argument Requested)

John L. Maxey II, Esq. (MSB# Heather M. Aby, Esq. (MSB# MAXEY WANN PLLC 210 East Capitol Street, Suite 2125 (39201) Post Office Box 3977 Jackson, Mississippi 39207-3977 Telephone: (601) 355-8855

Facsimile: (601) 355-8881

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the lower court erred in refusing to enforce an arbitration provision contained within a fully enforceable Admission Agreement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 25, 2004, Elzenia Johnson (hereinafter referred to as "Ms. Johnson" and/or "Elzenia Johnson") filed suit in Hinds County Circuit Court alleging Mary Scott (hereinafter referred to as "Ms. Scott" and/or "the Resident") suffered personal injuries while residing at Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center, identified in the lower court proceedings as Trinity Mission Health & Rehabilitation of Clinton (hereinafter referred to as "Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center" and/or "the Facility"). R.5-38. Ms. Johnson additionally named the following individuals/entities as defendants:

Mariner Health Care, Inc., F/k/a Mariner Post-Acute Network, Inc; Mariner Health Care Management Company, f/k/a LC Management Company; MHC Holding CO.; MHC Mid America Holding CO.; Grancare Inc.; National Heritage Realty, Inc.; Evergreen Healthcar, LLC, George Morgan; Boyd P. Gentry; Charles W. "Tripp" Francis, III; and LPNH Holdings Limited, LLC.

Id.

Upon admission to Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center, Elzenia Johnson, Ms. Scott's daughter, entered into an Admission Agreement on her Mother's behalf. Thereafter, on September 13, 2002, she executed an updated Admission Agreement on her own behalf, as well as on behalf of her. R. 563-63. Accordingly, and in lieu of answering the Complaint, Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center, and LPNH Holdings filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration. R. 273-303.²

After full briefing on the issue of the enforcement of the arbitration provision, the lower court found as follows:

¹Appellants citation form is as follows: Citation to the record is (R. ___) and citation to the transcript is (TR. ___).

²Charles W. "Tripp" Francis, III, joined in this Motion. R. 304-06.

Under Mississippi law, the elements of a valid contract are (1) two contracting parties, (2) consideration, (3) an agreement that is sufficiently definite, (4) parties with legal capacity to make a contract, and (5) no legal prohibition precluding contract formation. Rotenberry v. Hooker, 364 So. 2d 266, 270 (Miss. 2003). The Trinity Defendants have the burden to show that Elzenia Johnson had the authority to bind Mary Scott to the admission agreement. No evidence has been presented that shows Elzenia Johnson had actual or apparent authority to bind Mary Scott to the admission agreement, and subsequently the arbitration agreement. Elzenia Johnson did not have the legal capacity to waive Mary Scott's right to a jury trial.

R. 595-96.

Aggrieved by this ruling, Trinity Mission Health & Rehabilitation of Clinton and LPNH Holdings, LLC filed the instant appeal pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 4. This Court has recognized that "an appeal may be taken from an order denying a motion to compel arbitration." *Tupelo Auto Sales, Ltd. v. Scott*, 844 So. 2d 1167, 1170 (Miss. 2003).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves the question of whether a long-term care facility/nursing home can rely on a child's apparent authority to execute an admission agreement on his or her parent's behalf. Elzenia Johnson admitted her mother, Mary Scott, to Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center on January 4, 2001. R. 550, 558-59. That same day, Ms. Johnson also excuted, as the "legal/resident representative," an Advance Directives document. R. 550, 560. By executing this document, she authorized the Facility to perform CPR on her mother, "in the event of its necessity." R. 560. Also, on the day of admission, Ms. Johnson executed a Medicare Secondary Payer Questionnaire as the "Patient/Caregiver." R. 561.

Later, on June 15, 2001, Elzenia Johnson, again acting as her Mother's Responsible Party, executed a Patient Fund Authorization, authorizing Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center to handle Ms. Scott's funds "in accordance with the Patient fund procedures established by this nursing facility." R. 562.

Thereafter, on September 13, 2002, Elzenia Johnson executed the Admission Agreement at issue both as herself (as the Responsible Party) and as her mother. R. 563-63. This contract was also signed by a Facility Representative and witnessed by another Facility employee. R. 568. The September 13th Admission Agreement contained the following clearly and conspicuously placed arbitration provision:

F. ARBITRATION

The Resident and Responsible Party agree that any and all claims, disputes and/or controversies between them and the Facility or its Owners, officers, directors or employees shall be resolved by binding arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association and its rules and procedures. The Arbitration shall be heard and decided

by one qualified Arbitrator selected by mutual agreement of the Parties. Failing such agreement each Party shall select one qualified Arbitrator and the two selected shall select a third. The Parties agree that the decision of the Arbitrator(s) shall be final. The Parties further agree that the Arbitrators shall have all authority necessary to render a final, binding decision of all claims and/or controversies and shall have all requisite powers and obligations. If the agreed method of selecting an Arbitrator(s) fails for any reason or the Arbitrator(s) appointed fails or is unable to act or the successor(s) has not been duly appointed, the appropriate Circuit Court on application of a party, shall appoint one Arbitrator to arbitrate the issue. Arbitrator so appointed shall have all the powers of the one named in this Agreement. All parties hereto agree to arbitration for their individual respective anticipated benefit of reduced costs of pursing a timely resolution of a claim, dispute or controversy, should one arise. The Parties agree to share equally the costs of such arbitration regardless of the outcome. . . .

R. 293. The Admission Agreement additionally contained the following acknowledgment provision:

THE UNDERSIGNED ACKNOWLEDGE THAT EACH OF THEM HAS READ AND UNDERSTOOD THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THE ARBITRATION PROVISION AND HAS RECEIVED A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT, AND THAT EACH OF THEM VOLUNTARILY CONSENTS TO AND ACCEPTS ALL OF ITS TERMS AND PROVISIONS.

Id. (Emphasis in original). This provision was indented, in all caps and bold font, and found directly above the signature lines. In conjunction with the above-conspicuous language, the Admission Agreement contained language encouraging Elzenia Johnson to seek legal counsel prior to executing the contract or prior to the termination period. R. 291.

On July 25, 2003, Elzenia Johnson executed as a document entitled "Resident Pharmacy choice opinions," on her Mother's behalf. R. 569. Although Elzenia Johnson executed the Admission Agreement on her Mother's behalf, as well as numerous other documents throughout Ms.

Scott's three (3) year residency and his Mother benefitted from that contract, the lower court found the Admission Agreement (and arbitration provision) to be unenforceable, denying the request to move to binding arbitration. R. 595-96.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The September 13, 2002 Admission Agreement entered into by Ms. Scott's daughter, Elzenia Johnson, and Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center is a valid contract and should be enforced accordingly. This Court has long followed the four-corners rule when interpreting a contract. It is a court's duty to construe an instrument, such as an admission agreement, as written. The lower court erred in failing to do so.

By executing the Admission Agreement, as her Mother Responsible Party, Elzenia Johnson held herself out as having the authority to bind her mother and to continue engagement of services of Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center. Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center, in turn, acted in good faith, believing Ms. Johnson had the apparent authority to continue to bind her Mother to contract. To hold otherwise would place an undue burden on nursing homes to investigate a prospective, and as in this case a current, resident's financial and business circumstances and would preclude such facilities from relying on the apparent authority of such obvious agents as a resident's child. The lower court erred in finding Elzenia Johnson lacked the authority to bind her mother.

Elzenia Johnson executed the Admission Agreement as her Mother's Responsible Party, thereby benefitting from the provisions of the contract. The Record before the Court is devoid of any evidence that Elzenia Johnson or Mary Scott ever informed Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center that Elzenia Johnson *should not be* acting as Ms. Scott's responsible party. Rather, in addition to the execution of this contract, Ms. Johnson executed several other documents with the

Facility, for or on her Mother's behalf, including:

- Initial Admission Agreement January 4, 2001;
- Advance Directives document January 4, 2001;
- Medicare Secondary Payer Questionnaire January 4, 2001;
- Patient Fund Authorization June 15, 2001; and
- Resident Pharmacy Choice Options July 25, 2003.

Accordingly, the Facility was justified in its reliance that Elzenia Johnson, Ms. Johnson's daughter, did in fact have authority to act on her behalf. In light of Mississippi jurisprudence regarding contract interpretation, the terms of the contract are fully enforceable and agreed upon arbitration, rather than litigation, should proceed.

Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center relied upon Elzenia Johnson's actions and based upon its position as a care provider to Ms. Scott, was justified in such a reliance. As a result of these actions, the doctrine of equitable estoppel applies, barring Elzenia Johnson from denying being bound by the Admission Agreement.

Elzenia Johnson's filing of the lawsuit was in direct contravention to the binding arbitration provision contained within the September 13, 2002 Admission Agreement. This Court has found in favor of arbitration provisions in the nursing home/long-term care facility setting.

As a result of this Court's favored status of arbitration, the lower court had a duty to begin with a presumption the arbitration provision was valid and binding, placing the burden with Elzenia Johnson to prove otherwise. Instead, and in disregard for this precedence, the lower court denied the motion to compel arbitration.

On September 13, 2002, Elzenia Johnson, Ms. Scott's daughter and responsible party, entered into a contract – a contract containing a binding arbitration provision. It has been recognized that to allow a plaintiff to claim the benefit of a contract and simultaneously avoid its burdens would both

disregard equity and contravene the purposes underlying the enactment of the Federal Arbitration Act. Elzenia Johnson's claims are based on the activities arising out of the terms and conditions of the Admission Agreement. As such, she is bound by the terms and conditions of the Agreement, *i.e.*, the contract she entered into on her Mother's behalf, with Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

"The decision to grant or deny a motion to compel arbitration is reviewed by this Court de novo." Equifirst Corp. v. Jackson, 920 So. 2d 458, 461 (Miss. 2006). "This Court has consistently recognized the existence of a 'liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements." Terminix International, Inc. v. Rice, 904 So. 2d 1051, 1054-55 (Miss. 2004) (quoting Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So. 2d 719, 722 (Miss. 2002)).

II. The Admission Agreement is a valid contract and should be enforced as written.

Mississippi has long followed the four-corners rule when interpreting a contract. The goal of a court is to give effect to the intent of the parties. *Heartsouth, PLLC v. Boyd*, 865 So. 2d 1095, 1105 (Miss. 2003). "The general rule is the intention of the parties must be drawn from the words of the whole contract, and if, viewing the language used, it is clear and explicit, then the court must give effect to this contract unless it contravenes public policy." *Id.* (quoting *Jones v. Miss. Farms Co.*, 116 Miss. 295, 76 So. 880, 884 (1917)).

In looking to the four-corners to interpret a contract, "the court's concern is not nearly so much with what the parties may have intended but with what they said, since the words employed are by far the best resource for ascertaining the intent and assigning the meaning with fairness and accuracy." *Id.* (quoting *Warwick v. Gautier Utility District*, 738 So. 2d 212, 214 (Miss. 1999)). "Contracts must be interpreted by objective, not subjective standards, therefore '[c]ourts must ascertain the meaning of the language actually used, and not some possible but unexpressed intent of the parties." *Id.* (quoting *IP Timberlands Operating Co. v. Denmiss Corp.*, 726 So. 2d 96, 105

(Miss. 1998)). It is the duty of a court to construe an instrument as written. *Thornhill v. System Fuels, Inc.*, 523 So. 2d 983, 998 (Miss. 1988).

The record is devoid of any evidence that Elzenia Johnson ever informed Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center she lacked the authority to act on her Mother's behalf; accordingly, the Facility was justified in its reliance that Elzenia Johnson did in fact have the authority to act on her behalf. The lower court erred in refusing to enforce the contract as written—the terms of which are now fully enforceable against Elzenia Johnson.

III. Elzenia Johnson's lawsuit is in direct contravention to the alternative dispute resolution provisions contained within the Admission Agreement.

Very recently, in *MS Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton*, this Court reiterated its approval of arbitration provisions contained within contracts. 926 So. 2d 167 (Miss. 2006). "When Congress enacted the FAA, its purposes were to establish a broad 'federal policy favoring arbitration,' *and* to 'rigorously enforce agreements to arbitrate." *Id* at 173 (quoting *East Ford v. Taylor*, 826 So. 2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002) (citing *Shearson/Am. Exp. Inc. v. McMahon*, 482 U.S. 220, 226 (1987)).

This Court determined, "[t]he United States Supreme Court - whose decisions the justices of this Court are bound by oath to follow - has clearly declared that Section 2 of the FAA prohibits courts (including this Court) from singling out arbitration provisions for special treatment."

³Section 2 of the FAA provides:

A written provision in any maritime transaction or a contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract or transaction, or the refusal to perform the whole or any part thereof, or an agreement in writing to submit to arbitration an existing controversy arising out of such a contract, transaction, or refusal, shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.

Id. at 173-74. "That is to say, it prevents courts from placing more stringent requirements for the enforcement of arbitration provisions than for other provisions in a contract." Id. (citing Doctor's Assoc., Inc. v. Cassarotto, 517 U.S. 681, 687 (1996)). The Horton Court went on to quote the United States Supreme Court's holding that it is bound to follow: "By enacting § 2, we have several times said, Congress precludes states from singling out arbitration provisions for suspect status, requiring instead that such provisions be placed 'upon the same footing as other contracts." Id. at 174 (quoting Scherk v. Alberto-Culver Co., 417 U.S. 506, 511 (1974)). (Emphasis in original).

Elzenia Johnson has argued that because she did not have a "power of attorney or other legal authority" she is not bound to arbitrate. R. 389-90. That argument lacks merit. In executing the Admission Agreement as her Mother's Responsible Party, Elenia Johnson acted on her Mother's behalf agreeing to the terms contained therein. In *Horton*, this Court aptly found, "*JuJnder Mississippi law...parties to a contract have an inherent duty to read the terms of a contract prior to signing; that is, a party may neither neglect to become familiar with the terms and conditions and then later complain of lack of knowledge, nor avoid a written contract merely because he or she failed to read it or have someone else read and explain it." Horton, 926 So. 2d at 177 (citing Titan Indem. Co. v. City of Brandon, Miss., 27 F.Supp.2d 693, 697 (Miss. 1997) (Emphasis supplied). Elzenia Johnson "may not [now] escape the agreement by simply stating [she] did not read the agreement or understand its terms." <i>Id.* She is now bound by that choice.

The alternative dispute resolution provisions are part of a fully enforceable contract and as the Court found in *Vicksburg Partners*, *L.P. v. Stephens*, "[a]rbitration is about a choice of forumperiod." 911 So.2d 507, 525 (Miss. 2005). As such, Appellants respectfully request the Court honor

this choice of forum Elzenia Johnson made on September 13, 2002, and reverse the lower court's ruling.

IV. Elzenia Johnson's actions constitute an agency relationship.

On September 13, 2002, the Admission Agreement before the Court was executed by Mary Scott's daughter, Elzenia Johnson. R. 563-63. She executed the agreement once again, holding herself out to Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center to be her Mother's responsible party. The Admission Agreement contained the following language, in all capital letters:

THE UNDERSIGNED ACKNOWLEDGE THAT EACH OF THEM HAS READ AND UNDERSTOOD THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THE ARBITRATION PROVISION AND HAS RECEIVED A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT, AND THAT EACH OF THEM VOLUNTARILY CONSENTS TO AND ACCEPTS ALL OF ITS TERMS.

R. 568. (Emphasis in original). The contract further provided, "[t]he Resident and Responsible Party availed themselves of the opportunity, if they deemed it desirable, to have had third party advice and legal counsel regarding this Agreement prior to its execution or will during the Termination Period set forth in Article D.2." R. 566.

By signing the Admission Agreement, as well as numerous other documents executed throughout her Mother's three (3) year residency, Elzenia Johnson held herself out as having authority to continue to bind her Mother and continue to engage the services of Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center. Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center acted in good faith, continuing to believe Elzenia Johnson had the authority - - apparent or otherwise - - to bind her to contract. Her

actions allowed Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center to believes he possessed the very authority she now disputes.⁴

It is undisputed that Mary Scott received services from Clinton Health & Rehabilitation Center based on the terms and conditions of the Admission Agreement, thereby benefitting from same. It has been recognized that to allow a plaintiff to claim the benefit of a contract and simultaneously avoid its burdens would both disregard equity and contravene the purposes underlying the enactment of the Federal Arbitration Act. *Mississippi Fleet Card, LLC v. Bilstat, Inc.*, 175 F. Supp. 2d 894, 902 (S.D. Miss. 2001). Should the lower court's holding stand, that injustice will occur.

By agreeing to and signing the September 13th contract as her Mother's responsible party, Elzenia Johnson created an express agency, or alternatively, an implied agency. American Jurisprudence, 2d Edition, has aptly set forth the creation of an expressed or implied agency:

While the creation of an agency relationship, so far as the principal and agent are concerned, arises from their consent and usually as the result of contract, it is not essential that the actual contract exist. The agency and the assent of the parties thereto may be either express or implied. Further, an agency may be informally created.

An express agency is an actual agency created as a result of the oral or written agreement of the parties, and the implied agency is also an actual agency, the existence of which as a fact is proved by deductions or influences from the other facts and circumstances of the

⁴Although this Court has yet to rule on the precise issue of whether a responsible party can bind a resident to contract, the Alabama Supreme Court has affirmatively decided the issue. In *Briarcliff Nursing Home, Inc. v. Turcotte*, 894 So. 2d 661 (Ala. 2004); *Owens v. Coosa Valley Health Care, Inc.*, 890 So. 2d 983 (Ala. 2004); and *McGuffey Health and Rehabilitation Center v. Gibson*, 864 So. 2d 1061 (Ala. 2003), the Alabama Supreme Court reviewed nursing home agreements which were not signed by the resident but were, instead, executed by the resident's responsible party. In each case, the Alabama Court held the contract to be valid and enforced the arbitration provision.

particular case, including the words and conduct of the parties.

3 Am. Jur. 2d Agency § 16 (2004).

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