#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-M-01053-SCT

Trinity Mission Health & Rehabilitation of Clinton; LPNH Holdings Limited, LLC;

APPELLANT/DEFENDANTS

VS.

The Estate of Mary Scott, by and through Elzenia Johnson, Individually and as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Mary Scott, and on behalf of and for the use and benefit of the wrongful death beneficiaries of Mary Scott

APPELLEE/PLAINTIFF

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

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

## II. Additional Reasons Exist in the Record that support denial of Defendants' Motion to Compel.

Plaintiff submits that the Circuit Court of Hinds County was correct in its order denying Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration. However, other reasons for denying Defendants' motion are also supported by the record. "It is well settled that if the actions of a trial court can be upheld for any reason, the appellate court should affirm." Vinson v. Roth-Roffy, 829 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (citing Gates v. Gates, 616 So. 2d 888, 890 (Miss. 1993)). Plaintiff submits that the lower court's decision denying motion may be affirmed for the following independent reasons, which are supported by the record:

## A. Judicial economy supports Plaintiff's claims being tried together in one action.

As noted above, Plaintiff has filed claims against the previous owners of Clinton Health and Rehabilitation Center, the Mariner Defendants. These Defendants owned the facility before the arbitration agreement at issue was signed. A Federal District Court has ruled that the Mariner Defendants were not parties to the arbitration agreement and cannot compel arbitration under its terms. R. 353-56. Thus, Plaintiff's claims against the Mariner Defendants will continue in the Circuit Court of Hinds County. Since Plaintiff's claims arose out of the residency of Mary Scott at Clinton Health and Rehabilitation Center, which spanned the ownership of both the Mariner and Trinity Defendants, many of her claims are of a continuing nature and will require the

same witnesses and evidence to be presented. As a matter of judicial economy, it would be prudent to allow Plaintiff's claims to be heard together in one venue. Since the Mariner Defendants are not parties to an agreement to arbitrate, Plaintiff submits that the proper forum is the Circuit Court of Hinds County.

## B. The arbitration clause, when read in conjunction with the Admission Agreement, is unconscionable.

When read in conjunction with the law applicable to skilled nursing facilities that participate in Medicare and Medicaid, this admission agreement shocks the conscience. The language in the agreement appears designed to circumvent the requirements of Medicare and Medicaid, and to strip the resident and the resident's family of rights afforded them under law by illegally attempting to reduce the costs of "legal fees, insurance, settlement costs." It is clearly a contract of adhesion. See Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens, 911 So. 2d 507 (Miss. 2005) (construing a virtually identical admission agreement, but finding that the signatures of both the resident and child constituted a voluntary and knowing waiver of jury trial). "The common law ... subjects terms in contracts of adhesion to scrutiny for reasonableness." Carnival Cruise Lines v. Shute, 499 U.S. 585, 600, 111 S.Ct. 1522, 113 L.Ed.2d 622 (1991)(Stevens, J., dissenting o.g.). Substantive unconscionability may be proven by showing the terms of the arbitration requirement are oppressive. Pitts v. Watkins, 905 So. 2d 553, 555 (Miss. 2005).

Unconscionability and illegality permeate this agreement. The overpowering tenor of the agreement leads to one conclusion: <u>No</u> part of it should be enforced. "[A] court may not make a new contract for the parties or rewrite their contact under the guise of construction." *Pannell v. Guess*, 671 So. 2d 1310, 1315 (Miss. 1996) (citing

Travelers Indemnity Co. v. Chappell, 246 So. 2d 498, 510 (Miss.1971) (quoting 17 Am.Jur.2d Contracts § 242 (1964)).

Even though *Stephens* suggests that Mississippi case law "holds that if a court strikes a portion of an agreement as being void, the remainder of the contract is binding," Plaintiff submits that if the contract read as a whole is illegal, it must be struck as a whole. *Stephens*, citing e.g., *Lawler v. Government Employees Ins. Co.*, 569 So. 2d 1151, 1153 (Miss.1990)." Incredibly, 14 of the 43 subsections in the Admission Agreement contain unconscionable or illegal provisions. See § A.5, § B.1, § B.5, § C.5, § C.7, § C.8, § D.1, § D.3, § E.7, § E.8, § E.12, § E.13, § E.16, and § E.17, R. 543-48. Furthermore, the non-offensive subsections really lack significant meaning, other than to ensure that the nursing home will be paid for its services (or even the lack thereof). The following examination of the language of the Admission Agreement reveals patent unconscionability and illegality:

# 1. The Admission Agreement indicates the nursing home's illegal intent to staff at a level less than the law requires.

Mississippi Minimum Standard for Institutions for the Aged or Infirm §201.1(a) (adopted October 9, 2002 and applicable during Ms. Scott's residency) states, "Minimum requirements for nursing staff shall be based upon the ratio of two and eighttenths (2.80) hours of direct nursing care per resident per twenty-four hours. Staffing requirements are based upon resident census." (emphasis added). Federal law further provides that a nursing facility is required to provide sufficient staffing to meet the needs of the residents. 42 U.S.C. § 1396r(b)(4)(c)(i). Mississippi Minimum Standard § 304.1(g) states that having "[i]nadequate staff to provide safe care and supervision of a resident" is grounds for the revocation of a nursing home's license.

Here, the nursing home's Admission Agreement states that the nursing home has no intention of complying with these laws. The language in the Agreement is that, on average (which would mean that sometimes it is lower and sometimes higher), and including non-direct nursing caregivers, Defendants staff somewhere between 2.0 and 2.8 hours per patient per day:

The Facility agrees to furnish general duty nursing and nurse aide care equal to at least the State Medicaid minimum hours per Resident day (this is generally approximately **2.0 to 2.8 hours** per Resident day **on average including nursing administration time**).

### § B.1, R. 544 (emphasis added).

This is below the state minimum requirement in place in the year 2002 of 2.8 hours PPD. The Agreement further states, "Because the Facility does not provide one-on-one care, extended periods of time will elapse in which the Resident is unattended and could fall, elope from the Facility, or be injured or harmed in other ways." *Id.* Because federal law mandates that "Each resident must receive and the facility must provide the necessary care and services to attain or maintain the highest practicable physical, mental, and psychosocial well-being," if a resident needs one-on-one care, that is what the law requires the facility to provide and her to receive. If a nursing home cannot meet the needs of a resident, it is required, under Mississippi Minimum Standard § 503.1, to transfer the resident somewhere else than *can* meet her needs. When a resident needs one-on-one care, she is supposed to get it.

It is clear that Defendants have tried through this admission agreement to illegally abrogate their duties under the law. Attempting such contractual abrogation is not permitted in Mississippi. Like this Court has stated regarding a board of supervisors, "Such being the duty [] imposed by law, it was not within their power or

authority to contract it away in whole or in part by any agreement . . . " U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co. v. Sunflower County, 194 Miss. 680, 12 So. 2d 142, 144 (Miss. 1943). The contract is illegal and should be held to be void.

2. The admission agreement illegally requires the family to provide staff that the nursing home is required to provide.

Mississippi Minimum Standard § 404.3, entitled "Admission Agreement," provides,

No agreement or contract shall be entered into between the licensee and the resident or her responsible party which will relieve the licensee of responsibility for the protection of the person and of the rights of the individual admitted to the facility for care, as set forth in these regulations. (emphasis added).

Mississippi law, thus, does not permit a licensee, like Trinity Mission of Clinton, LLC, to contract in the manner attempted in this case. Here, Clinton Health and Rehabilitation Center knew full well that it cannot contractually shirk its duties to protect the resident and to protect her rights, but it attempted to do so anyway. Further, Clinton Health and Rehabilitation Center concedes that resident care suffers when it does not provide enough trained and qualified staff to do the job. Their Admission Agreement even states, "[T]he quality of care provided by the Facility is limited by staffing levels provided and quality of staff." § C.5, R. 545.

Rather than meeting the needs of the residents by providing qualified staff in sufficient numbers, the nursing home's admission agreement is designed to improperly and illegally shift the burden of care and the associated costs of that care to the resident and her family. Despite the fact that Clinton Health and Rehabilitation Center seeks reimbursement from Medicare and Medicaid for providing care to meet the needs of the

residents, its Admission Agreement all but requires a family, at its cost, to hire private duty sitters to help reduce the risk of injury due to their short-staffing and incompetence.

The law, however, requires the nursing home, and not the family, to provide that supervision to meet those needs: "The facility **must** ensure that . . . each resident receives adequate supervision and assistance devices to prevent accidents" (42 C.F.R. § 483.25(g)(2); see similar MS Minimum Standard §503.8). Hence, the contract is void and illegal and should not be enforced.

3. The Admission Agreement illegally seeks to immunize the nursing home from all suits for abuse and neglect, and by doing so constitutes a violation of the resident's rights and exploitation of a vulnerable adult.

The federal OBRA regulations applicable to licensed nursing homes in Mississippi provide that a nursing home must protect and promote the rights of each resident, including each resident's rights as a United States citizen. 42 C.F.R. § 483.10(a)(1). Further, all Mississippi nursing home residents have the right to adequate and appropriate medical care, to be free from abuse and neglect and to dignity in full recognition of their individuality. MS Minimum Standard § 408.2. A licensed skilled nursing facility must protect and promote all the rights of each resident. 42 C.F.R. § 483.10. One of the Residents' Rights set forth in the Mississippi Minimum Standards states that every Mississippi nursing home resident has the right to and:

Is encouraged and assisted, throughout his period of stay, to exercise his rights as a resident and as a citizen, and to this end may voice grievances, has a **right of action for damages** or other relief for deprivations or infringements of **his right to adequate and proper treatment and care** established by an applicable statute, rule, regulation or contract, and to recommend changes in policies and services to facility staff and/or to outside representatives of his choice, free from restraint, interference, coercion, discrimination, or reprisal...

Id. at § 408.2(e)(emphasis added). Further, under the law, every Mississippi nursing home resident:

is assured of exercising his civil and religious liberties including the right to independent personal decisions and knowledge of available choice. The facility shall encourage and assist in the fullest exercise of these rights.

Id. at § 408.2(p). Additionally, the Mississippi Vulnerable Adults Act of 1986 seeks to ensure that frail and vulnerable adults, many of whom reside in nursing homes in this state, are protected and not neglected, abused or exploited. See Miss. Code Ann. § 43-

#### 47-3. The Act defines a vulnerable adult as:

A person eighteen (18) years of age or older or any minor whose ability to perform the normal activities of daily living or to provide for his or her own care or protection is impaired due to a mental, emotional, physical, or developmental disability or dysfunction, or brain damage or the infirmities of aging.

Miss. Code. Ann. § 43-47-5(m). The Act also defines abuse as:

the willful or nonaccidental infliction of physical pain, injury or mental anguish on a vulnerable adult, the unreasonable confinement of a vulnerable adult, or the willful deprivation by a caretaker of services which are necessary to maintain mental and physical health of a vulnerable adult.

Miss. Code Ann. § 43-47-5(a). Neglect is defined as:

Failure of a caretaker to supply the vulnerable adult with the food, clothing, shelter, health care, supervision or other services which a reasonably prudent person would do to maintain the vulnerable adult's mental and physical health.

Miss. Code Ann. § 43-47-5(k). Exploitation is defined as:

The illegal or improper use of a vulnerable adult or his resources for another's profit or advantage, with or without the consent of the vulnerable adult.

Exploitation is also defined by Black's Law Dictionary, 6<sup>th</sup> Ed., as "Taking unjust advantage of another for one's own advantage or benefit." There can be no doubt that

Mary Scott was a vulnerable adult who resided in a nursing home. Accordingly, the staff of Clinton Health and Rehabilitation Center was obligated to protect her rights and not to take advantage of her.

Here, among other things set out herein (like shifting the burden of care to the resident and her family), through the use of its Admission Agreement, Clinton Health and Rehabilitation Center seeks to violate the Resident's Rights and exploit all its residents by attempting to thwart the resident's ability to prosecute any "right of action for damages." The Admission Agreement has three (3) illegal hold harmless clauses:

The Resident and Responsible Party agree, therefore, to hold harmless the Facility for injury or harm to the Resident when said injury or harm could have been avoided had supplemental one-on-one private duty nursing been provided by Resident or Responsible Party. Exhibit A, § C.5 (emphasis added).

The Resident and Responsible Party further agree to indemnify and hold harmless the Facility from and against all claims, loss, costs and expenses incurred as a result of claims against the facility for any reason by the Responsible Party, family members and friends of the Resident unless such claim, loss, cost and expense is the result of the Facility's willful misconduct. Exhibit A, § C.5 (emphasis added).

[T]he Resident and Responsible Party agree that should any individual or individuals, whether employees of the Facility or not, commit any criminal act upon or against the Resident or Responsible Party, that the Resident and Responsible Party agree to seek damages and claims only against said individual(s). Accordingly, the Parties hereto agree to **hold harmless** the Facility, its owners, directors and employees **for the criminal actions of any individual(s)**. Exhibit A, § C.8 (emphasis added).

If society is to be measured by looking at how it treats its weakest members, surely this nursing home's agreement condemns us all. These hold harmless provisions seek to immunize Clinton Health and Rehabilitation Center from (1) any injury that a private duty sitter, hired by the family or resident, could have prevented, (2) all other injuries, unless they were willfully caused, and (3) essentially everything else,

since willful misconduct typically constitutes criminal conduct with respect to vulnerable adults. To translate, Plaintiff cannot conceive of any set of facts where, under the terms of the Admission Agreement, Clinton Health and Rehabilitation Center would be held liable or where it would not be impervious to suit. A party may not contract away a duty that by law that party is already under. Cappaert v. Junker, 413 So. 2d 378, 382 (Miss. 1982) (a party under a common law or statutory duty supported by public policy cannot contractually immunize himself in a manner to avoid that duty); see also Divia v. South Hunterdon Regional High School, 2005 WL 977028, \*11 (N.J.Super.A.D. 2005) ('[W]hile freedom of contract permits exculpatory provisions in a contract to exempt a party from its own negligence, most courts have ruled that one cannot exempt himself from negligence where there is a duty imposed by law, in the performance of a legal duty and where a public interest is involved or a public duty owed." (citing McCarthy v. National Association for Stock Car Auto Racing, Inc., 87 N.J.Super. 442 (L.Div.1965)). The hold harmless provisions of the Admission Agreement are illegal, and the contract should not be enforced.

4. The Admission Agreement seeks to unconscionably cap the nursing home's liability by limiting damages and barring punitive damages.

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